ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED

FEB 19 2016

SC Court of Appeals

Appeal from Spartanburg County

J. Derham Cole, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

COREY WILLIAM BROWN,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2015-000094

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

LANELLE CANTEY DURANT
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Did the trial court err in denying Appellant's motion to suppress the drugs found on his person following a Terry² frisk when the officers lacked articulable suspicion that Appellant was armed and dangerous as officers presented no evidence that they feared for their safety but only performed a pat-down as an evidentiary search which was a violation of Brown's Fourth Amendment rights?

² Terry V. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1 (1968).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On November 24, 2010, the Spartanburg County Grand Jury indicted Corey W. Brown on the charge of trafficking in cocaine more than ten grams. On January 21, 2013, Brown proceeded to trial before the Honorable J. Derham Cole. At Brown's request, a bench trial was held. R. 76, ll. 15 – 23. Brown was represented by Richard H. Welchel, and the state was represented by James Edward Hunter and Kinli Bare. R. 1. Pretrial, a suppression hearing was held on Appellant Brown's motion to suppress the drugs. Without ruling on the motion, Judge Cole, with the agreement of all parties, proceeded with the bench trial. R. 93, ll. 1 – 24.

On January 9, 2015, Brown again appeared before Judge Cole for his ruling on the motion. Judge Cole denied the motion to suppress and found Brown guilty of trafficking in cocaine. R. 111, ll. 1 – 9. At that point, Brown had been incarcerated for 808 days on this charge. R. 112, ll. 21 – 24. Judge Cole sentenced Brown to the minimum sentence of five years. R. 114, ll. 1 – 5. Brown's attorney filed a notice of appeal. This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On the night of August 28, 2010, Officer Jonathan Lawson and Sergeant Mark Hillers were on patrol on the north side of Spartanburg which was known to be a high crime area. Around ten o'clock they observed a Chrysler vehicle pull over on the side of Farley Street and park. Immediately an Infiniti pulled up and Brown entered the driver's side. The officers followed the Infiniti and observed the vehicle make two turns without using a turn signal either time. Officer Lawson requested tag information on the car. Once he received that, the officers initiated a traffic stop on these turn signal traffic violations. R. 9, ll. 18 – R. 12, ll. 6.

Officer Lawson approached the driver's side. He described Brown as being very nervous, fidgety and with sweat on his head. Brown kept patting his right leg. Two other people were in the car: a male passenger in the back seat and a woman in the front passenger seat. Officer Lawson obtained Brown's driver's license, car registration and insurance information. He returned to the patrol car to check these items. Sergeant Hillers remained at Brown's car. R. 12, ll. 7 – R. 13, ll. 3.

Sergeant Hillers, while at Brown's car, saw Brown begin talking to people who gathered at the apartment complex nearby. Then Brown began just moving his lips to the people. Ronnie Lyles was the back seat passenger. He began talking to Sergeant Hillers and showing him the inside of bags and telling Sergeant Hillers that they did not have anything. Sergeant Hillers saw Brown put his hand out of the window. When Sergeant Hillers went to check the area, Brown allegedly said to him that he did not throw any drugs out of the window. Once Lieutenant Munoz arrived to stand at the car, Sergeant Hillers went to the patrol car to speak with Officer Lawson. R. 34, ll. 18 – 25; R. 39, ll. 7 – R. 43, ll. 17.

Sergeant Hillers told Officer Lawson that he believed that Brown threw something out of the window. They then rewound the patrol car video to see if Brown discarded something out of the window. Initially, Sergeant Hillers testified at the suppression hearing that they could not “confirm or deny” from the footage if Brown did or not. R. 43, ll. 17 – R. 44, ll. 12. However, on cross examination, defense counsel s read from Sergeant Hillers’ report of the incident:

Q: We viewed the footage and determined that nothing had been thrown from the window.

A: That’s correct.

R. 52, ll. 20 – R. 53, ll. 10.

Officer Lawson then said that based on Brown’s “reactions, his nervousness and the actions that Sergeant Hillers believed he had seen,” Officer Lawson returned to the car and asked Brown to exit the vehicle. The information on Brown’s license had not come through at that point. Brown asked why because his license was good and he did not have any warrants on him. Officer Lawson had Brown exit the vehicle and go to the back of the vehicle. He had to ask Brown twice. Brown looked to the right and left when he got out of the car. R. 13, ll. 12 – R. 14, ll. 25.

Officer Lawson asked Brown if he had any weapons and Brown said no. The officer asked if he could do a pat-down to make sure Brown did not have any weapons, and Brown asked why because he did not have any weapons. Officer Lawson then performed a pat-down or as the officer said, a Terry frisk. Officer Lawson felt a large bulge in Brown’s right pocket which the officer said he believed to be a package of narcotics based on his experience and training. He asked Brown what was in his pocket and Brown said a package.

Officer Lawson then asked him how much “weed” did he have on him. Brown responded “jus a little bit.” Since Brown admitted he had marijuana, Officer Lawson placed him under arrest and removed the package. The officer detained Brown and then found a plastic baggy in his front pocket that contained powder cocaine. R. 15, ll. 1 – R. 17, ll. 5.

On cross-examination, Officer Lawson admitted that the information on Brown’s driver’s license and vehicle information came back with no problems. R. 21, ll. 11 – 22. Officer Lawson did not return Brown’s license to him until Brown was transported to the detention center. The officer wrote the ticket for the traffic violation after the entire incident as was his practice. Officer Lawson also admitted that there were three officers present during the search and arrest. R. 28, ll. 1 – R. 31, ll. 25.

Appellant Corey Brown testified at the suppression hearing that the alternator on his car went out and that was the reason he parked on the side of the road on Farley Street. He called his friend Ronnie, who was the back seat passenger when they were stopped, to come help jump start his car. But it did not work so Brown could not drive his car. Brown then got in the car with Ronnie and a woman and headed to the Freemont School Apartments. He was sure he used his turn signal because the officers were across the street when they were trying to jump start the car. The blue lights came on and Brown stopped at the Freemont Apartments. R. 54, ll. 1 – R. 56, ll. 25.

He gave his license and car information to Officer Lawson who went to the patrol car. Officer Hiller then joined him in the patrol car. After about thirty to forty minutes, Officer Lawson returned to Brown’s vehicle and asked him to exit the car. Brown knew the time because he had his phone. Brown did not try to throw anything from the vehicle and admitted in his trial testimony that he had the cocaine in his pocket. Brown said no when the

officer asked to search him, but Officer Lawson did the pat-down anyway. R. 57, ll. 1 – R. 62, ll. 20.

Mike West was the training coordinator for Spartanburg 911. He maintained the records of the traffic calls for the police. R. 67, ll. 1 – 25. The initial call that Officer Lawson made on Brown was at 2237 hours. At 2249.03 Officer Lawson, who was number 90 to the 911 caller, called for shackles. At 2254, the officers made a traffic stop at Freemont School Apartments. At 2306 and 55 seconds a case number was generated for the officers. R. 68, ll. 1 – R. 75, ll. 25.

After jury selection, defense counsel made a pretrial motion to suppress the drugs based on the unconstitutionality of the search. Counsel argued that the search violated the federal and state prohibition against unreasonable searches and seizures. Counsel explained that it was a Terry frisk and there was not sufficient reason for the officer to conduct a Terry frisk. Then the suppression hearing was held. R. 8, ll. 15 – R. 9, ll. 19.

Following the suppression hearing, defense counsel argued that in order to conduct a pat-down, the officer had to have an articulable suspicion that he and the other officers may be in danger. There had to be articulable facts of reasonable suspicion that Brown was armed and dangerous. Brown and the others were left in the car while Officers Lawson and Hillers reviewed the video tape. Only **after** the officers saw that Brown did not throw anything from the car, the officers decided to remove him from the vehicle and search him. There was no testimony before the trial court that the officers believed Brown was armed and dangerous. Even though it was a high crime area, counsel noted that the precedent established this was insufficient. R. 79, ll. 23 – R. 81, ll. 13.

Counsel argued that the traffic call was at 2237 and the officers called for a case number at 2306. During this time, Brown was unreasonably detained and searched. The officers prolonged the stop and used this as a fishing expedition. When the license and vehicle information came back fine, the officer should have stopped there. Therefore, the drugs should be suppressed. R. 81, ll. 14 – R. 89, ll. 11.

The state argued that Brown and his passenger brought up the drugs first which gave the officer reasonable suspicion that there were drugs in the vehicle. Also, Brown patting his right leg created suspicion. R. 92, ll. 1 – 25.

The judge ruled that he would review the case law before he decided the motion. R. 93, ll. 9 – 10.

At the conclusion of the evidence for the suppression hearing and prior to the arguments, defense counsel told the court that Brown wanted to go forward with a bench trial without a jury. All parties agreed to the bench trial. R. 76, ll. 1 – R. 78, ll. 25. Following the suppression hearing and arguments, the trial judge decided to go forward with the testimony for the bench trial in case the motion to suppress was denied. If all were in agreement, the testimony already heard in the suppression hearing would be used for the bench trial. All agreed. R. 93, ll. 9 – 24.

Officer Lawson testified as to the participants in the chain of custody without objection. R. 94, ll. 1 – R. 99, ll. 25. Ashley Harris, the lieutenant in charge of the forensic laboratory in the Spartanburg County Sheriff's Office, testified that she tested the substance retrieved by Officer Lawson. It was 27.34 grams of powder cocaine. R. 100, ll. 1 – 24; R. 104, ll. 9 – R. 106, ll. 12.

Defense counsel told the court that Brown wanted his testimony at the suppression hearing to be considered only for the suppression hearing. The court agreed to this. R. 107, ll. 19 – R. 108, ll. 15.

On January 9, 2015, Judge Cole, ruled on the suppression motion and bench trial. He denied the motion to suppress and found Brown guilty of trafficking cocaine. He sentenced Brown to the minimum of five years. R. 111, ll. 1 - R. 114, ll. 5.

ARGUMENT

The trial court erred in denying Appellant's motion to suppress the drugs found on his person following a Terry³ frisk when the officers lacked articulable suspicion that Appellant was armed and dangerous as officers presented no evidence that they feared for their safety but only performed a pat-down as an evidentiary search which was a violation of Brown's Fourth Amendment rights.

In Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1 (1968), the United States Supreme Court held that a police officer must have reasonable articulable suspicion that a person is armed and dangerous before the officer can conduct a pat down. In State v. Lesley, 326 S.C. 641, 486 S.E.2d 276 (1997), the South Carolina Supreme Court wrote:

Police may stop a motor vehicle and briefly detain and question an occupant if they have a reasonable suspicion that the occupant is involved in criminal activity. Michigan v. Long, 463 U.S. 1032, 103 S.Ct. 3469, 77 L.Ed.2d 1201 (1983); State v. Robinson, 306 S.C. 399, 412 S.E.2d 411 (1991). This suspicion must be based on "specific and articulable facts which, taken together with rational inferences from those facts, reasonably warrant that intrusion." Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1, 21, 88 S.Ct. 1868, 18780, 20 L.Ed.2d 889, 906 (1968).

The Court in Terry, *id.* also wrote that inarticulate hunches do not support detention. The United States Supreme Court in Terry provided a two-prong test for determining the constitutionality of a traffic stop: (1) whether the police officer's action was justified at the initial traffic stop; (2) whether the officer's subsequent actions were reasonably related in scope and duration to the circumstances that justified the stop.

In State v. Woodruff, 344 S.C. 537, 544 S.E.2d 290 (Ct. App. 2001), the Court of Appeals, citing Terry, *supra*, held that in assessing whether a suspect is armed and

³ Terry V. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1 (1968).

dangerous, and thus, a pat -down search for weapons is required, he officer need not be absolutely certain that the individual is armed; the issue is whether a reasonably prudent person in the circumstances would be warranted in the belief that his safety or that of others was in danger.

In State v. Taylor, 401 S.C. 104, 736 S.E.2d 663 (2013), the South Carolina Supreme Court ruled that the lateness of the hour and a high crime area were not enough for reasonable suspicion but were factors to be considered.

In State v. Burgess, 394 S.C. 407, 714 S.E.2d 917 (Ct. App. 2011), the Court of Appeals cited U.S. v. Foster, 634 F.3d 243, 248 (4th Cir. 2011). The Federal Appeals Court was mindful of concerns regarding the state “using whatever facts are present, no matter how innocent, as indicia of suspicious activity” and that the state “must do more than simply label a behavior as ‘suspicious’ to make it so.” The Court continued to say that the state “must be able to either articulate why a particular behavior is suspicious or logically demonstrate, given the surrounding circumstances, that the behavior is likely to be indicative of some more sinister activity than may appear at first glance.” Id.

In State v. Tindall, 388 S.C. 518, 698 S.E.2d 203 (2010), the South Carolina Supreme Court wrote that in carrying out a routine traffic stop, a law enforcement officer may request a driver’s license and vehicle registration, run a computer check, and issue a citation; any further detention for questioning was beyond the scope of the stop and therefore illegal unless the officer has reasonable suspicion of a serious crime.

In State v. Tindall, Id., the officer questioned Tindall for fifteen to twenty minutes into the stop before the officer asked Tindall if he could search the car. Then, he questioned Tindall for an additional six to seven minutes after he said he was writing a warning ticket

before the officer started asking questions such as where he was going, and the purpose of the trip.

The Supreme Court held that this continued detention violated the Fourth Amendment. The Supreme Court cited four factors which together did not constitute reasonable suspicion. These were: Tindall was driving to Durham to meet his brother; he was driving a rental car; Tindall did “felony stretch” on exiting the car (raising his arms in a stress relief movement); and Tindall seemed nervous.

The drugs should be suppressed because the officers did not have articulable reasonable suspicion to conduct a frisk pursuant to Terry v. Ohio, *supra*. The only articulable facts the officers had were that Brown patted his leg and had beads of sweat on his head. The officer described him as being “nervous” which is a totally subjective opinion. He did not throw anything out of the car window as the officers determined from watching the video. Officer Hillers said Brown was talking to the residents of the apartment complex who came out on the steps and then ‘mouthed’ some words to them. This is not an indication that he had drugs or a weapon since he did not throw anything from the window. Brown telling the officer that he did not throw drugs from the window was correct. Any reasonable person stopped by the police in a high crime area at night for a minor traffic violation as not giving a turn signal would believe the officers were looking for some indication of a crime.

The officers exceeded the scope of the stop. Detaining Brown while they watched the video **before** the officers received the information that his driver’s license and car information were good was unreasonable and a violation of his Fourth Amendment rights. To conduct a Terry frisk when there was no indication that the officers feared for their safety