ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY

J. Derham Cole, Circuit Court Judge

FEB 25 2016

SC Court of Appeals

Appellate Case No. 2015-000094

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

COREY WILLIAM BROWN,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

MEGAN HARRIGAN JAMESON
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 100108

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-3727

BARRY J. BARNETTE
Solicitor, Seventh Judicial Circuit

180 Magnolia Street
Spartanburg, South Carolina 29306
(864) 596-2575

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY

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

ARGUMENT

The trial judge properly denied Appellant's suppression motion and admitted the 27.34 grams of cocaine during trial because the officers developed a reasonable articulable suspicion that Appellant was armed and dangerous during the course of the traffic stop after observing numerous suspicious factors prior to conducting the frisk.

Appellant asserts the trial court erred in admitting the cocaine discovered during the frisk search. Specifically, Appellant contends the trial court should have suppressed the nearly twenty-eight grams of cocaine found on Appellant because officers did not articulable suspicion to conduct a frisk pursuant to Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1 (1986). Appellant argues the only articulable facts provided by law enforcement were Appellant's patting of his leg and beads of sweat on his head, which he asserts did not give the officers reasonable articulable suspicion that Appellant was armed and dangerous as required under Terry. To the contrary, the officers' decision to conduct the frisk search was entirely justified and reasonable because the circumstances known to the officers at the time of the frisk search, including that Appellant was present in a high drug and crime area, Appellant showed signs of nervous agitation (including excessive perspiring), Appellant repeatedly reached down between the seat and center console of the car and touched the right side of his pants while still in the vehicle, Appellant did not comply with the officers' numerous request to step out of the vehicle, Appellant looked left and looked right to possible escape routes as he stepped out of the vehicle, Appellant continued to pat his right leg once out of the vehicle, and the disproportionately nervous behaviors of both passengers, reasonably led the officers to believe Appellant posed a danger to the officers and was armed and dangerous. Accordingly, the trial court properly denied the pre-trial suppression motion and admitted Appellant's narcotics into evidence during trial. Appellant's convictions should be affirmed.

Standard of Review

In criminal cases, appellate courts sit to review errors of law only. State v. Baccus, 367 S.C. 41, 48, 625 S.E.2d 216, 220 (2006). In Fourth Amendment search and seizure cases, the appellate court is limited to determining if there is any evidence to support the trial court's findings and can only reverse due to clear error. State v. Flowers, 360 S.C. 1, 5, 598 S.E.2d 725, 727 (Ct. App. 2004); see State v. Brockman, 339 S.C. 57, 66, 528 S.E.2d 661, 666 (2000) (“[W]e will review the trial court’s ruling like any other factual finding and reverse if there is clear error. We will affirm if there is any evidence to support the ruling.”). The reviewing court may conduct its own review of the record to determine whether the trial court’s ruling is supported by the evidence. State v. Khingratsaiphon, 352 S.C. 62, 70, 572 S.E.2d 456, 460 (2002). However, the appellate court must affirm the trial court if there is any evidence in the record to support the ruling. State v. Pichardo, 367 S.C. 84, 96, 623 S.E.2d 840, 846 (Ct. App. 2005). The appellate court will not reverse merely because it would have reached a different conclusion than the trial court. State v. Rivera, 384 S.C. 356, 361, 682 S.E.2d 307, 310 (Ct. App. 2009).

Discussion / Analysis

The Fourth Amendment protects “[t]he right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and effects, against unreasonable searches and seizures.” U.S. Const. amend. IV. That guarantee protects against unreasonable searches and seizures, including those involving only a brief detention. Pichardo, 367 S.C. at 97, 623 S.E.2d at 847. “The touchstone of the Fourth Amendment is reasonableness.” Florida v. Jimeno, 500 U.S. 248, 250 (1991). Thus, only unreasonable searches and seizures are prohibited. State v. Foster, 269 S.C. 373, 378, 237 S.E.2d 589, 591 (1977); see Maryland v. Buie,

494 U.S. 325, 331 (1990) (“It goes without saying that the Fourth Amendment bars only unreasonable searches and seizures[.]”).

For Fourth Amendment purposes, a traffic stop of a vehicle, along with the detention of individuals during the stop, constitutes a seizure. State v. Maybank, 352 S.C. 310, 315, 573 S.E.2d 851, 854 (Ct. App. 2002). However, a traffic stop seizure is reasonable per se when probable cause exists to believe a traffic violation has occurred. State v. Williams, 351 S.C. 591, 598, 571 S.E.2d 703, 707 (Ct. App. 2002); see Whren v. United States, 517 U.S. 806, 810 (1996) (“An automobile stop is thus subject to the constitutional imperative that it not be ‘unreasonable’ under the circumstances. As a general matter, the decision to stop an automobile is reasonable where the police have probable cause to believe that a traffic violation has occurred.”).

Once a lawful traffic stop is initiated, an officer “may request a driver’s license and vehicle registration, run a computer check, and issue a citation.” Pichardo, 367 S.C. at 98, 623 S.E.2d at 847 (citing United States v. Sullivan, 138 F.3d 126 (4th Cir. 1998)). Additionally, based on “the inordinate risk” to his or her safety that an officer faces while conducting a traffic stop, the officer may order the driver and any passengers to exit the vehicle pending the completion of the stop. Pennsylvania v. Mimms, 434 U.S. 106, 110 (1977); see Maryland v. Wilson, 519 U.S. 408, 415 (1997) (“[A]n officer making a traffic stop may order passengers to get out of the car pending completion of the stop.”); see, e.g., United States v. Sakyi, 160 F.3d 164, 168 (4th Cir. 1998) (“[E]very traffic stop poses a meaningful level of risk to the safety of police officers. . . . [T]he substantial risk to police officers during traffic stops is ‘too plain’ for argument.” (citations omitted)).

During the course of the stop, an officer may also conduct a frisk search of the driver or any passenger in the vehicle if the officer harbors “reasonable suspicion that the

person subjected to the frisk is armed and dangerous.” Arizona v. Johnson, 555 U.S. 323, 327 (2009); see State v. Adams, 397 S.C. 481, 492, 725 S.E.2d 523, 529 (Ct. App. 2012) (“An officer conducting a lawful traffic stop may conduct a pat-down search for weapons if the officer ‘has reason to believe that the person is armed and dangerous.’ ” (citations omitted)). For a frisk search to be reasonable and justified, “[t]he officer need not be absolutely certain that the individual is armed; the issue is whether a reasonably prudent man in the circumstances would be warranted in the belief that his safety or that of others was in danger.” Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1, 27 (1968); see also United States v. Swann, 149 F.3d 271, 274 (4th Cir. 1998) (recognizing “the standard justifying a frisk is not onerous”). “Among the circumstances to be considered in connection with [the] issue [of the propriety of a stop and frisk] are the ‘characteristics of the area’ where the stop occurs, the time of the stop, whether late at night or not, as well as any suspicious conduct of the person accosted such as an obvious attempt to avoid officers or any nervous conduct on the discovery of their presence.” United States v. Bull, 565 F.2d 869, 870-871 (4th Cir. 1977).

Reasonableness depends on a balance between the public interest and the individual’s right to personal security free from arbitrary interference by law enforcement officers. Mimms, 434 U.S. at 109. “Reasonable suspicion ‘is not readily, or even usefully, reduced to a neat set of legal rules, but, rather, entails common sense, nontechnical conceptions that deal with factual and practical considerations of everyday life on which reasonable and prudent persons, not legal technicians, act.’ ” State v. Provet, 391 S.C. 494, 500, 706 S.E.2d 513, 516 (Ct. App. 2011) (quoting United States v. Foreman, 369 F.3d 776, 781 (4th Cir. 2004)). It is “more than a general hunch but less than what is required for probable cause.” State v. Willard, 374 S.C. 129, 134, 647 S.E.2d 252, 255

(Ct. App. 2007); see State v. Rogers, 368 S.C. 529, 534, 629 S.E.2d 679, 682 (Ct. App. 2006) (“Reasonable suspicion is something more than an inchoate and unparticularized suspicion or hunch.”). “In this highly fact-specific inquiry, reasonable suspicion ‘is a fluid concept which takes its substantive content from the particular context in which the standard is being assessed.’ ” State v. Wallace, 392 S.C. 47, 51-52, 707 S.E.2d 451, 453 (Ct. App. 2011) (quoting Foreman, 369 F.3d at 781).

In determining the existence of reasonable suspicion, the totality of the circumstances must be considered. Pichardo, 367 S.C. at 104, 623 S.E.2d at 85. In reviewing the totality of the circumstances, the individual factors of the traffic stop must not be considered piecemeal or in isolation. See United States v. Branch, 537 F.3d 328, 337 (4th Cir. 2008) (“Courts must look at the ‘cumulative information available’ to the officer . . . and not find a stop unjustified based merely on a ‘piecemeal refutation of each individual’ fact and inference[.]” (citations omitted)). Instead, all of the circumstances of the stop must be considered as a whole to determine whether the officer’s actions were reasonable in light of all of the information available to the officer at the time. See United States v. Arvizu, 534 U.S. 266, 273 (2002) (“[W]e have said repeatedly that [reviewing courts] must look at the ‘totality of the circumstances’ of each case to see whether the detaining officer has a ‘particularized and objective basis’ for suspecting legal wrongdoing. The process allows officers to draw on their own experience and specialized training to make inferences from and deductions about the cumulative information available to them that ‘might well elude an untrained person.’ ” (citations omitted)); see also United States v. Mason, 628 F.3d 123, 129 (4th Cir. 2010) (“[J]ust as one corner of a picture might not reveal the picture’s subject or nature, each component that contributes to reasonable suspicion might not alone give rise to reasonable suspicion.”). “In applying

the concept of reasonable suspicion to the various facts of a case, '[i]t is the entire mosaic that counts, not single tiles.' ” Wallace, 392 S.C. at 52, 707 S.E.2d at 453 (quoting United States v. Whitehead, 849 F.2d 849, 858 (4th Cir. 1988)).

In State v. Smith, 329 S.C. 550, 553, 495 S.E.2d 798, 800 (Ct. App. 1998), Smith was lawfully stopped for speeding. When an officer approached Smith’s vehicle, he noticed Smith was acting in an “edgy” manner and was looking around. Id. at 553-554, 495 S.E.2d at 800. Fearing Smith might be looking for a weapon inside of the vehicle, the officer ordered Smith to step out and walk to the rear of the vehicle. Id. at 554, 495 S.E.2d at 800. The officer then asked Smith if he had any weapons on his person, and Smith did not respond. Id. After Smith failed to respond, the officer conducted a frisk search, felt a bulge in Smith’s jacket that he knew to be narcotics, and asked Smith if the bulge was Smith’s “reefer.” Id. Smith confirmed that it was, and the officer arrested Smith after Smith unsuccessfully attempted to avoid arrest. Id. Following Smith’s arrest, officers discovered marijuana and crack cocaine on Smith’s person. Id. Subsequently, during trial, Smith moved to suppress the narcotics discovered by the officers, and the trial court denied Smith’s motion. Id. Following his conviction, Smith appealed, and the Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court’s ruling. Id. In reaching that decision, the Court concluded the circumstances known to the officer at the time of the search, including his observations of Smith’s edgy behavior, “gave rise to a reasonable suspicion Smith might be armed and dangerous and justified [the officer’s] patdown of Smith.” Id. at 557, 495 S.E.2d at 802.

In the case at bar, Appellant contends the officers violated his constitutional rights by conducting the frisk search because there allegedly was nothing known to the officers at the time of the frisk search that would have led them to believe he was armed and

dangerous. Contrary to Appellant's assertions, the circumstances known to the officers at the time of the search coupled with the officers' training and experience led the officers to harbor a reasonable suspicion Appellant was armed and dangerous. Therefore, under the totality of the circumstances, Lawson's decision to conduct the frisk search was a reasonable one, and the trial court properly denied Appellant's pre-trial motion to suppress the cocaine discovered during the frisk search.

Establishing the reasonableness of the officers' suspicions, the traffic stop itself occurred in a high crime area known for drug activity and violent crimes. See Illinois v. Wardlow, 528 U.S. 119, 124 (2000) (recognizing a person's presence in a high crime area is one relevant contextual consideration in a Terry analysis); see also State v. Banda, 371 S.C. 245, 253, 639 S.E.2d 36, 40 (2006) ("This Court has recognized that because of the 'indisputable nexus between drugs and guns,' where an officer had reasonable suspicion that drugs are present in a vehicle lawfully stopped, there is an appropriate level of suspicion of criminal activity and apprehension of danger to justify a frisk of both the driver and the passenger in the absence of other factors alleviating the officer's safety concerns." (citations and footnotes omitted)). Additionally, Appellant behaved in an unusual manner from the outset of the traffic stop, appeared extremely nervous, perspired so heavily that beads of sweat gathered on his head, repeatedly looked around the vehicle as if searching for a weapon, repeatedly reached down between the seat and center console of the car and touched the right side of his pants while still in the car, refused to get out of the numerous times, silently mouthed to bystanders, and repeatedly patted his right leg once he got out of the car, all which the officers recognized as signs of potential danger to the officers. Additionally, both passengers in Appellant's car acted peculiar, including Ronnie Lyles speaking incoherently to Hillers and repeatedly opening bags and

volunteering he did not have any drugs and the female passenger intently staring straight ahead throughout the stop, giving officers further suspicion that Appellant was armed and dangerous.

In light of Appellant's unsettling and excessively nervous behavior, Appellant's presence in a high drug and crime area, Appellant's repeated failure to get out of the car, Appellant's incessant patting of his right leg while inside and outside of the car, and the suspicious behavior of both passengers, Lawson was fully justified in believing Appellant might be armed and dangerous and in conducting the brief frisk search to ensure Appellant did not pose a risk to him or his fellow officers. See Smith, 329 S.C. at 557, 495 S.E.2d at 802 (finding the officer was justified in conducting a frisk search after Smith behaved in an edgy manner and Smith did not respond when asked whether he was armed); State v. Abrams, 322 S.C. 286, 288, 471 S.E.2d 716, 717 (Ct. App. 1996) ("In this case, the officers had a reasonable suspicion which justified their stop of Abrams. They saw him leaving an area known for drugs, where there had been a civil disturbance potentially involving drug activity, at 3:45 in the morning. The officers were therefore justified in frisking Abrams for weapons to ensure their safety."); see also Terry, 392 U.S. at 24 ("When an officer is justified in believing that the individual whose suspicious behavior he is investigating at close range is armed and presently dangerous to the officer or to others, it would appear to be clearly unreasonable to deny the officer the power to take necessary measures to determine whether the person is in fact carrying a weapon and to neutralize the threat of physical harm."). When viewing all of the circumstances known to the officers at the time of the search in totality, Lawson's decision to conduct the frisk search was entirely prudent and reasonable. See Terry, 392 U.S. at 23 ("Certainly it would be unreasonable to require that police officers take unnecessary risk

in the performance of their duties.”); see also Segura v. United States, 468 U.S. 796, 806 (1984) (“By its terms, the Fourth Amendment forbids only ‘unreasonable’ searches and seizures.”). Accordingly, the trial court properly denied Appellant’s pre-trial suppression motion, and its ruling was supported by the evidence.² See Pichardo, 367 S.C. at 96, 623 S.E.2d at 846 (“An appellate court must affirm the trial court’s ruling if there is *any* evidence to support the ruling.” (italics in original)). Appellant’s convictions should be affirmed.

² In his statement of the issue on appeal, Appellant solely contends the trial court should have suppressed the narcotics based on an allegedly unconstitutional Terry frisk. However, in the body of his brief, Appellant additionally appears to allege the officers exceeded the scope of the stop. To the extent Appellant is challenging the propriety of the stop on appeal, that issue is wholly unpreserved for appellate review for several different reasons. Initially, Appellant failed to preserve the issue for appellate review by not raising the issue in his statement of the issue on appeal. See Rule 208(b)(1)(B), SCACR (“Ordinarily, no point will be considered which is not set forth in the statement of the issues on appeal.”); see also State v. Culbreath, 377 S.C. 326, 332, 659 S.E.2d 268, 271 (Ct. App. 2008) (noting, in order for an issue to be properly presented for appeal, the appellant’s brief must set forth the issue in the statement of issues on appeal). Furthermore, the issue was likewise unpreserved because it was not ruled upon by the trial court. See August 19, 2014 Order and January 9, 2015 Order. Significantly, the trial court’s ruling was premised solely on the constitutionality of Lawson’s Terry frisk of Appellant and did not address the propriety of the detention. As a result, any issue regarding the propriety of the detention was not ruled upon by the trial court and, thus, was not preserved for appellate review. See State v. Watts, 321 S.C. 158, 167, 467 S.E.2d 272, 278 (Ct. App. 1996) (“To be preserved for appellate review, an issue must be both presented to and passed upon by the trial court. **If the issue is raised but not ruled on, it is not preserved for appeal.**” (emphasis added)); see also State v. Dunbar, 356 S.C. 138, 142, 587 S.E.2d 691, 693 (2003) (“In order for an issue to be preserved for appellate review, it must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge.”); State v. Gee, 262 S.C. 373, 379, 204 S.E.2d 727, 729 (1974) (“Only matter that has been ruled on below can be reviewed[.]”). However, even if the issue had somehow been preserved for appellate review, the officers’ stop of Appellant was nonetheless proper in both initiation and scope. Officers properly stopped Appellant after observing him make two illegal turns. See Williams, 351 S.C. at 598, 571 S.E.2d at 707 (holding a traffic stop seizure is reasonable per se when probable cause exists to believe a traffic violation has occurred); see Whren, 517 U.S. at 810 (“An automobile stop is thus subject to the constitutional imperative that it not be ‘unreasonable’ under the circumstances. As a general matter, the decision to stop an automobile is reasonable where the police have probable cause to believe that a traffic violation has occurred.”). Additionally, officers properly requested his driver’s license and vehicle registration and ran a computer check. See Pichardo, 367 S.C. at 98, 623 S.E.2d at 847 (Once a lawful traffic stop is initiated, an officer “may request a driver’s license and vehicle registration, run a computer check, and issue a citation.”). Officers did not unduly delay the traffic stop, which according to 911 dispatch calls did not begin until 10:49 p.m. and resulted in Appellant’s arrest shortly thereafter. (R. 69-75). Accordingly, to the extent Appellant is challenging the constitutionality of the detention on appeal, that challenge is wholly without merit, and evidence discovered during the course of the stop was properly admitted during trial. See Pichardo, 367 S.C. at 96, 623 S.E.2d at 846 (“An appellate court must affirm the trial court’s ruling if there is *any* evidence to support the ruling.” (italics in original)).

CONCLUSION

For all the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that the judgment and conviction of the lower court be affirmed.